STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
Court of Common Pleas

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

C.A. No. 2011-CP-10-0934

App. No. 2016-001936

---

RECEIVED

SEP 22 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Virginia L. Marshall and Todd W. Marshall,

Respondents,

v.

Kenneth A. Dodds, M.D., Charleston Nephrology Associates, LLC.,  
Georgia Roane, M.D., and Rheumatology Associates, P.A.

Petitioners.

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONERS**  
**ON BEHALF OF KENNETH A. DODDS, M.D. AND**  
**CHARLESTON NEPHROLOGY ASSOCIATES, LLC**

---

Robert H. Hood (SC #2599)  
James B. Hood (SC #70212)  
Deborah Harrison Sheffield, *Of Counsel* (SC # 2757)

## **STATEMENT OF THE QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Did the Court of Appeals err in reversing the Trial Court's grant of summary judgment to Petitioners Dr. Dodds and Charleston Nephrology Associates, LLC on the Plaintiffs' medical malpractice claims as barred by the statute of repose, S.C. Code Ann. §15-3-545(A), because the six-year period began to run on September 15, 2004 when Dr. Dodds allegedly first breached the standard of care by failing to order certain testing that allegedly would have revealed that she had a rare disease known as Waldenström's macroglobulinemia?

## *Introductory Preface*

This is an appeal involving two medical malpractice claims against two doctors that were consolidated for discovery and trial. As alleged, the Plaintiff Patient, Virginia L. Marshall,<sup>1</sup> was treated by Petitioner Dr. Roane, a rheumatologist, from 2000 to 2007, who diagnosed her with a condition of undifferentiated connective tissue disease, an autoimmune disease. Petitioner Dr. Dodds, a nephrologist, treated the Patient from September 15, 2004 through September 15, 2005, for high levels of protein in her urine (proteinuria) on a referral from Dr. Roane. Years later, in January/February 2010, she was diagnosed with a rare form of lymphoplastic lymphoma, a non-Hodgkin's blood cancer known as Waldenström's macroglobulinemia.

As described by the Plaintiff Patient, her case is broadly based on allegations that the Petitioners misdiagnosed her condition and should have discovered that she had Waldenström's earlier. However, the time frames and medical treatments relevant as to each Petitioner Physician are distinct and separate, and the Plaintiff Patient filed separate actions as to each Physician. As discussed in more detail below, the claims against Dr. Dodds -- commenced on February 7, 2011 -- are based on allegations that he should have ordered certain testing during the treatment of her proteinuria and discovered that she had Waldenström's in February 2005. Apart from any evidentiary dispute about whether Dr. Dodds breached the standard of care, the Trial Court held that the Patient's claims are barred by the statute of repose which began to run on September 15, 2004, when Dr. Dodds first saw the Patient based on her expert's testimony that her Waldenström's could have and should have been diagnosed by testing at that time.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Patient's spouse is also a plaintiff, but for clarity, they are generally referred to collectively as "Plaintiff Patient" throughout this brief.

The Court of Appeals reversed the Trial Court's decision, holding that the statute of repose does not begin to run after a medical professional's first misdiagnosis:

[W]hen a plaintiff alleges a misdiagnosis or failure to diagnose a condition within the six-year period—which an expert witness opines to be a breach of the physician's duty of care—the statute of repose does not bar the cause of action merely because the physician previously misdiagnosed the condition outside the repose period. [Jt. App. 7.] Marshall v. Dodds, 417 S.C. 196, 789 S.E.2d 88, 92, (Ct. App. 2016).

The Court of Appeals' opinion effectively adopts a rule that creates a series of repose periods with each failure to correctly diagnose over the course of treatment for the same condition. This new rule is inconsistent with this Court's prior decisions on the statute of repose, and it will upset the economic balance struck by the legislative body and run afoul of the absolute limitations policy set by the Legislature. For these reasons, the Court of Appeals' opinion should be vacated and the Trial Court's order should be affirmed.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

By virtue of the fact that the course of treatment spanned July 1, 2005, the effective date of the Medical Malpractice Act, including S.C. Code Ann. §15-79-125 and 15-36-100, this case comes to the Court through a somewhat protracted process. Briefly, the Plaintiff Patient filed a Notice of Intent to File Suit and a summons and complaint against Dr. Kenneth A. Dodds and Charleston Nephrology Associates, L.L.C. [collectively referred to as Dr. Dodds] on February 7, 2011. [ROA 31.] After completing the presuit medication process, she later filed a separate summons and complaint on June 8, 2011. [ROA 55.] After motion and order, the Plaintiff Patient filed an amended complaint asserting only allegations covering before July 1, 2005, and an amended complaint asserting allegations covering after the effective date. [ROA 62, 69.]

Dr. Dodds and his Group filed answers to the amended complaints, generally denying all allegations of negligence and asserting affirmative defenses, including the statute of repose. [ROA

76, 83, 90, 98.] Motions for Summary Judgment were filed by Dr. Dodds and his Group, asserting that the claims were barred by the statute of repose. [ROA 106.] The motions came for hearing before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr., on March 3, 2014, who granted the motions for summary judgment by order, filed May 2, 2014. [ROA 12.] Although the Plaintiff Patient alleged that the cancer was present and should have been detected as early as February 9, 2005<sup>2</sup> -- within the six-year period -- the Trial Court held that the Plaintiff Patient's claims against Dr. Dodds are barred by the statute of repose based on her own expert's testimony that the first alleged misdiagnosis occurred on September 15, 2004 at her initial visit. Thereafter, the Plaintiff Patient made a motion for reconsideration, which was denied by Order, filed August 7, 2014. [ROA 151, 25.] The Plaintiff Patient timely filed and served a Notice of Appeal. After briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeals issued its order, reversing the Trial Court on May 4, 2016. [Jt. App. 1.] This Court has granted petitions to review the Court of Appeals' decision.

As noted above, the Plaintiff Patient has pursued similar proceedings against Dr. Georgia Roane and Rheumatology Associates, P.A. [collectively referred to as Dr. Roane], based on medical treatment spanning from 2000 to 2007. The cases were consolidated – over Dr. Dodds' objection – for discovery and trial. [ROA 109, 1.] However, the Trial Court issued a separate order granting summary judgment to Dr. Roane on similar statute of repose grounds. The Plaintiff Patient appealed and submitted a single brief presenting an issue as to the statute of repose without relevant distinction as between the two sets of Defendants and the different diagnoses and courses of treatment. While the facts and law overlap in certain points, the time frames and medical treatments relevant as to each Physician are distinct and separate, and thus, they submitted separate

---

<sup>2</sup> ROA 62, 69 - ¶8.]

briefs in the Court of Appeals and they submitted separate petitions for a writ of certiorari. Likewise, they now submit separate briefs to this Court on the grant of the petitions.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### *Overview – The Importance of the Distinctions between the Diagnoses and Course of Treatment by Dr. Dodds and Dr. Roane*

As described by the Plaintiff Patient: “The respondents are two physicians who spent a substantial amount of time giving Virginia Marshall aggressive treatment for a disease that her experts say she did not have.” [Appellants’ Brief, p. 1] However, the facts are that the Plaintiff Patient was treated by Dr. Roane, a rheumatologist, from 2000 to 2007, for a diagnosed condition of undifferentiated connective tissue disease, an autoimmune disease. After having been diagnosed with Waldenström's in 2010, the Plaintiff Patient claims that Dr. Roane’s original diagnosis was wrong and she failed to reevaluate the diagnosis to discover the cancer and change the treatment. The Plaintiff Patient states that her allegations against this Petitioner, Dr. Dodds, are “generally similar, but over a much shorter time period. .... Like the claim against Dr. Roane, the allegation of malpractice is that Dr. Dodds failed in his duty to monitor Mrs. Marshall’s treatment and to respond appropriately when her symptoms did not improve.” [Appellants’ Brief, p. 2.] However, the Plaintiff Patient’s characterization of a relationship between Dr. Roane’s treatment for the autoimmune disease and Dr. Dodd’s treatment for the proteinuria is inaccurate and inconsistent with her pleadings and the expert testimony elicited during discovery.

In her amended complaints, the Plaintiff Patient alleges that she was seen and treated by Dr. Dodds on February 7, 2005, February 9, 2005, September 12, 2005, and September 15, 2005, during which times his diagnosis was proteinuria and he prescribed a medication called Diovan. However, she strategically omitted the fact that she also had been seen and treated by Dr. Dodds in September 2004 for the same condition. Not coincidentally, the September 2004 dates are

critical because they fall outside the six-year statute of repose that bars her claims for any alleged negligence by Dr. Dodds during the course of his treatment of her proteinuria from September 15, 2004 through September 15, 2005.

***The Plaintiff Patient's Allegations as to Dr. Dodds***

As alleged, the Plaintiff Patient underwent a 24-hour urine test as ordered by Dr. Dodds on February 7, 2005, which showed elevated protein in her urine of 3045 mg/day [3.1 g/day]. She was seen by Dr. Dodds on February 9, 2005, with a diagnosis of chronic proteinuria and treatment with medication/Diovan. She was advised to follow-up in six months for another 24-hour urine test. [ROA 63, 70 - ¶ 4.]

The Plaintiff Patient returned to Dr. Dodds for the scheduled follow-up in September 2005. She had a 24-hour urine test on September 12, 2005, which showed elevated protein in her urine of 4169.3 mg/day [4.2 g/day]. She last saw Dr. Dodds on September 15, 2005. [ROA 63, 70 ¶ 5.] The Plaintiff Patient was referred to another nephrologist in January 2010, and he ordered testing to evaluate the type of protein in her urine, which showed a cancerous myeloma protein. She was referred to an oncologist in February 2010 who diagnosed her with lymphoplasmatic lymphoma.<sup>3</sup> [ROA 64, 71 - ¶ 7.]

The Plaintiff Patient alleged that the Waldenström's was present and should have been detected as early as February 9, 2005, and, that she could have been put on cancer treatment with Rituxan therapy immediately. She alleged that if her Waldenström's had been diagnosed in 2005, her prognosis would have been better and her life expectancy longer. [ROA 64, 71 - ¶ 8-9.]

---

<sup>3</sup> She has a rare form of non-Hodgkin's blood cancer known as Waldenström's. It is not curable. Dr. Singer testified that there is no evidence that the failure to diagnose Waldenström's in 2004 has led to any complications. [ROA 329:8-14.]

*The Facts as shown by the Medical History*

The medical records show that the Plaintiff has a long history of chronic proteinuria dating back prior to 1999. She had been seen on a consult by Dr. Dodds in July 1999 when she was hospitalized by her treating physician with a diagnosis of acute renal failure and interstitial nephritis, during which time her protein levels were as high as 6.1 g/per day. She was treated with steroids and her condition resolved. A renal biopsy was performed which did not show any cause for her condition. Later in 2000, her treating physician ordered a serum protein electrophoresis (“SPEP”) test that was negative for signs of cancer. [ROA 240.]

Although the Patient continued to have proteinuria after 1999/2000 hospitalization, her condition was stable and it did not substantially change. [ROA 242, 294.] Dr. Dodds did not see the Patient again until 2004-2005. Meanwhile, Dr. Roane, the rheumatologist, had diagnosed the Patient in 2000 as having undifferentiated/mixed connective tissue disease with nephritic syndrome, and she was being treated with medications.

While the medical records confirm, as alleged in the amended complaint, that the Plaintiff Patient was treated by Dr. Dodds again in February and September 2005 for her chronic proteinuria, she seeks to avoid the fact that her course of treatment with Dr. Dodds actually began in September 2004. The medical records show that the Patient had a history of elevated protein in her urine, and when she had a 24-hour urine test on August 6, 2004, which revealed protein levels of 3.5 g/day, she requested that Dr. Roane refer her to Dr. Dodds to treat the proteinuria. Dr. Dodds was not asked to confirm or evaluate Dr. Roane’s underlying diagnosis. [ROA 245. See also ROA 257.]

The Patient was seen by Dr. Dodds on September 15, 2004, and he prescribed Diovan to treat her proteinuria. She was advised to follow-up in two months, and at the time of the follow-

up visit on November 11, 2004, the Patient reported that she was feeling very well and she had no complaints; Dr. Dodds did not order any urine tests, and just continued her medication. [ROA 345. See also ROA 385.]

As alleged, when the Patient was seen by Dr. Dodds on February 7, 2005, her protein level was 3.1 g/day, and in September 15, 2005, it was 4.2 g/day. Those levels were not significantly different in comparison to the 3.5 g/day year earlier in September 2004, and she was considered stable with normal renal function.

Although Dr. Dodds had recommended at the September 2005 visit that the Patient return for a follow-up in six months, she never returned to Dr. Dodds and eventually she self-discontinued her medications after she quit seeing Dr. Roane. [ROA 262, 345.] In 2010, Patient had a new internist (Dr. Honney) who wanted her to have an updated evaluation of her proteinuria so she was referred to Dr. Pride, a nephrologist with the practice group from which Dr. Dodds had retired in 2008. She had a 24-hour urine test -- for the first time since September 2005 -- and her protein levels had risen dramatically to 9.1 g/day (9077 mg/day). [ROA 345.]

#### ***The Plaintiff Experts' Opinions<sup>4</sup>***

In accordance with §15-79-125 and §15-36-100, the Plaintiff Patient had submitted expert affidavits from Dr. Barry Singer, an oncologist/hematologist, and Dr. Barry Luke, a nephrologist.

Dr. Singer opined in his affidavit that the Plaintiff Patient had cancerous protein in her urine in February 2005 that could have been detected by Dr. Dodds if he had ordered further testing with a urine protein electrophoresis test (UPEP) and/or a serum protein electrophoresis test

---

<sup>4</sup> Petitioners do not concede to the opinions offered by the Plaintiff's medical experts; however, those opinions must be accepted as true at the summary judgment stage.

(SPEP). He opined in his affidavit that it was medical negligence to fail to order the testing to determine the type of protein in her urine. [ROA 382 ¶4-6.]

Dr. Robert Luke opined in his affidavit that Dr. Dodds breached a standard of care in February 2005 by failing to order UPEP/SPEP testing and by continuing her on Diovan. He also echoed Dr. Singer's opinion that there was cancerous protein present in her urine in 2005 and cancer would have been detected if Dr. Dodds had performed the UPEP/SPEP testing beginning in 2005. [ROA 385.]

In striking contrast to the opinion in the affidavit filed with the pleading, Dr. Singer testified in his deposition that if the UPEP/SPEP testing had been done in 2004, it would have shown her Waldenström's, and that Dr. Dodds failed to diagnose her then:

Q: We established earlier that you're aware that Mrs. Marshall saw Doctor Dodds in September of 2004?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And it would be your testimony that she had cancerous protein in her urine at that time as well?

A: I believe she did.

Q: And it would be your opinion that Doctor Dodds failed to diagnose the cancerous protein at that time as well?

A: Yes, sir.

[ROA 330:20-331:6. See also ROA 323:8-324:1, 337:17-23.] Dr. Singer could not offer any explanation as to why he did not include his opinion about September 2004 in his affidavit. [ROA 331:8-16.] He also testified that each of the four times that Doctor Dodds saw the Patient, her proteinuria was relatively stable. [ROA 340:15-20.]

Plaintiff's other expert, Dr. Robert Luke, testified in his deposition that the cancer was present as early as 2000, and at least by 2003. ROA 249:7–12.] He also testified that Dr. Dodds breached the standard of care during the September 2004 visit:

- his “principal complaint” of Dr. Dodds’ treatment was “the first two visits were enough to indicate other actions” [ROA 284:6-7];
- “during the first two visits, he was outside the standard of care without following up for the diagnosis of the proteinuria” [ROA 284:24-285:1]; and
- “the first two visits were enough information for further studies to be done, I think that's the main evidence.” [ROA 286:7-9.]

Plaintiff's oncology expert testified that Waldenström's is not curable, and the average life expectancy is four to five years. With a “smoldering” type that does not have organ involvement, they do not even begin treatment, and the patient can live a normal life. [ROA 325-327, 342-344.] As of 2011, the Patient was stable and functional with no complications or organ failure. [ROA 328, 329, 339.] Thus, even with the alleged delayed diagnosis, she has survived past the average life expectancy.

## THE APPLICABLE LAW

### A. *The Statute of Repose ~ §15-3-545(A)*

As specifically applies to medical malpractice actions, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-545 provides for a three-year statute of limitation and a six-year statute of repose:

(A) In any action, other than actions controlled by subsection (B), to recover damages for injury to the person arising out of any medical, surgical, or dental treatment, omission, or operation by any licensed health care provider as defined in Article 5, Chapter 79, Title 38 acting within the scope of his profession must be commenced within three years from the date of the treatment, omission, or operation giving rise to the cause of action or three years from date of discovery or when it reasonably ought to have been discovered, ***not to exceed six years from date of occurrence, or as tolled by this section.*** (Emphasis added.)

The statute of limitations is a matter of procedure that operates as a defense to limit the remedy available from an existing cause of action, while the statute of repose creates a substantive right to be free from liability. Langley v. Pierce, 313 S.C. 401, 403-404, 438 S.E.2d 242, 243

(1993) (citing First United Methodist Church v. U.S. Gypsum Co., 882 F.2d 862, 865–866 (4th Cir.1989)). “[T]he statute of repose portion of section 15–3–545(A) is substantive law, unlike a statute of limitations, which is procedural law.” Kerr v. Richland Mem'l Hosp., 383 S.C. 146, 148, 678 S.E.2d 809, 811 (2009) (citing Capco of Summerville, Inc. v. J.H. Gayle Const. Co., Inc., 368 S.C. 137, 142, 628 S.E.2d 38, 41 (2006)).

While the three-year limitation period begins to run from the date of discovery, the six-year statute of repose runs from the date of occurrence of the alleged negligent act or omission and “constitutes an outer limit beyond which a medical malpractice claim is barred, regardless of whether it has or should have been discovered.” Hoffman v. Powell, 298 S.C. 338, 339-340, 380 S.E.2d 821, 821 (1989); O'Tuel v. Villani, 318 S.C. 24, 27, 455 S.E.2d 698, 700 (Ct. App. 1995) *overruled by on other grounds* On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000).

#### ***B. The Summary Judgment Standard***

Summary judgment is appropriate “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” The moving party has the initial responsibility of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991). Once the party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponent’s case, the nonmoving party “may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading.” Rule 56(e), S.C.R.C.P. Instead, the nonmoving party “must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.” Id. Summary judgment is appropriate when a plaintiff does not commence an action within the applicable statute

of repose. See Kerr, 678 S.E.2d at 811. An appellate court reviews the grant of summary judgment using the same standard employed by the circuit court. Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of S.C., Inc., 349 S.C. 356, 361, 563 S.E.2d 331, 333 (2002).

## ARGUMENT

**THE PLAINTIFFS' MEDICAL MALPRACTICE CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF REPOSE, S.C. CODE ANN. §15-3-545(A) BECAUSE THE SIX-YEAR PERIOD BEGAN TO RUN ON SEPTEMBER 15, 2004 WHEN DR. DODDS FIRST FAILED TO ORDER THE TESTING THAT ALLEGEDLY WOULD HAVE REVEALED HER WALDENSTRÖM'S.**

**A. The Court of Appeals overlooked or misapprehended that the medical evidence and expert opinions present a claim for a continued misdiagnosis over a course of treatment from September 2004 through September 2005, not a series of separate negligent acts at each of the office visits with Dr. Dodds.**

As described by the Plaintiff Patient herself, this is not a case that involves only allegations of one interaction between the patient and physician but of continued misdiagnosis and improper treatment over a course of time. [Appellants' Brief, p. 2.] While she concedes that the original alleged misdiagnosis in September 2004 falls outside of the repose period, the Plaintiff Patient argues that Dr. Dodds committed a series of negligent acts at each visit that created a series of deadlines, and she is entitled to pursue claims for the negligent acts at the February and September 2005 visits. However, the Trial Court wisely and correctly reasoned that according to the Plaintiff's own experts' opinions, the first alleged misdiagnosis occurred on September 15, 2004, at her initial visit, and the alleged misdiagnosis at the subsequent visits were simply the continuation of the initial misdiagnosis:

While [Patient] did subsequently visit [Dr. Dodds] for treatment on February 9, 2005 and was not diagnosed with cancer, this later alleged misdiagnosis cannot serve as the starting point for the statute of repose and is not a 'separate and independent act' of negligence as claimed by Plaintiffs. [ROA 23.]

In reversing the Trial Court, the Court of Appeals focuses on the allegations that Dr. Dodds failed to correctly diagnose her condition at subsequent appointments on the dates in February and

September 2005 within the repose period. In so doing, the Court of Appeals overlooked or misapprehended the undisputed facts regarding the diagnosis and course of treatment by Dr. Dodds as shown in the medical records and the expert medical opinions from the Plaintiff's own experts.

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