THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Op. No. 5403 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 4, 2016)
Appellate Case No. 2016-001936

RECEIVED

NOV 06 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Virginia L. Marshall and
Todd W. Marshall, Respondents,

v.

Kenneth A. Dodds, M.D., Charleston
Nephrology Associates, LLC, Georgia
Roane, M.D., and Rheumatology
Associates, P.A., Petitioners.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

J. Edward Bell, III # 631
BELL LEGAL GROUP
P.O. Box 2590
Georgetown, SC 29442

C. Carter Elliott, Jr. # 12954
ELLIOTT & PHELAN
P.O. Box 1405
Georgetown, SC 29442

Blake A. Hewitt # 73674
BLUESTEIN THOMPSON SULLIVAN

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

ARGUMENT

There are two reasons this Court should affirm the Court of Appeals.

First, the Court of Appeals followed the statute's language, honored the statute's purpose, and upheld this Court's precedents. The statute of repose does not grant immunity for serial, repeated negligence. The decision of the Court of Appeals is correct.

Second, the Court of Appeals wisely rejected Georgia law as unpersuasive. Georgia's approach is unsound in its own right and is based on "a time of injury" analysis that is inconsistent with South Carolina law. No other state appears to have favorably cited Georgia's "first date of misdiagnosis/a misdiagnosis is a single injury" rule, but other states follow the Marshalls' proposed rule. Some of these states even share South Carolina's rejection of the "continuous treatment rule"—a tolling rule with no relevance here. The reason other states follow the rule the Marshalls are advancing is obvious: it makes zero sense to aggregate multiple instances of malpractice together and insulate repeated breaches of the standard of care from liability. The statute of repose is not a license to keep committing malpractice.

At bottom this case is about whether the statute of repose means what it says. The statute does not talk about the "first" occurrence of malpractice or "a new chain" of malpractice. The circuit court's reasoning was not faithful to the statute's language. The repose period extends six years into the future every time a physician commits malpractice. The Court of Appeals was right to reverse. This Court should affirm that decision.

A. The statute of repose does not grant immunity for serial, repeated negligence. The Court of Appeals followed the statute's language, honored the statute's purpose, and upheld this Court's precedents.

The circuit court granted summary judgment because it believed the statute of repose bars any lawsuit after six years passes from the first occurrence of a physician's negligence, regardless of whether a physician breached the standard of care on later occasions. (R.pp.7-9, 18). The Court of Appeals properly reversed, issuing a decision that follows the statute's language, implements the statute's purpose, and honors this Court's precedents.

- i. The decision of the Court of Appeals follows the statute's language and purpose.

The repose provision in section 15-3-545(A) explains that a medical malpractice lawsuit must begin no later than "six years from date of occurrence, or as tolled by this section." When read naturally this means whenever there is an occurrence of malpractice the repose period for that malpractice extends six years into the future. It follows by logical extension that there are multiple repose periods when there are multiple occurrences of malpractice. The legislature could easily have written a statute requiring a plaintiff to file suit within six years of the *first* occurrence of malpractice. It did not.

The decision of the Court of Appeals honors the statute's purpose. The statute of repose is a rule of closure, existing because the discovery rule's unlimited application would create indefinite exposure for a physician. If a physician's malpractice took 30 years to cause an injury, the discovery rule would allow a lawsuit as long as the suit was filed within three years of the injury's discovery. The statute of repose prevents this from happening, as this Court acknowledged in *Hoffman v. Powell* and as the Court of Appeals cited here. (App.p.6)

(citing *Hoffman*, 298 S.C. 338, 340-41, 380 S.E.2d 821, 822 (1989)). The statute allows a physician to rest after a legislatively-determined period of time passes from treatment, but nothing suggests the legislature intended to grant a physician immunity for recent acts of malpractice. There is a difference between a reasonable rule of closure and a rule that provides amnesty for ongoing negligence. It makes good sense to grant closure when years have passed since treatment. It makes no sense to grant immunity for repeat malpractice.

- ii. The decision of the Court of Appeals honors this Court's precedents.

The decision of the Court of Appeals honors this Court's precedents. The Court of Appeals cited the prominent precedents in its decision. *Hoffman v. Powell* was a constitutional challenge to the statute of repose and does not contain any support for the proposition that the first act of negligence triggers the repose period for subsequent acts of negligence. 298 S.C. at 340-342, 380 S.E.2d at 822-823. *Harrison v. Bevilacqua* rejected the continuous treatment rule; a rule providing that when a patient is being continually treated by a doctor, *none* of the deadlines for any malpractice claim start running until the doctor's course of treatment is over. 354 S.C. 129, 138, 580 S.E.2d 109, 113 (2003). The Court of Appeals cited both *Harrison* and *Hoffman*, (App.pp.6, 9-10), and as Mrs. Marshall's briefs to the Court of Appeals explained, there is no South Carolina case supporting the view that the first act of malpractice is the measuring act for all acts of malpractice. Several decisions address the statute of repose: *O'Tuel v. Villani*, *Kerr v. Richland Memorial Hospital*, *Shadwell v. Craigie*, and *Langley v. Pierce* were cited below. (R.pp.121-123, 143-145). None of them support the circuit court's reasoning. (Appellants' Brief, pp.8-10).

This Court need look no further than its own precedent for an explanation why the circuit court's approach is erroneous. This Court has recognized that when a case presents a series of discrete wrongs that would each be independently actionable, a defendant's claim to repose, which means rest, is "vitiating." *State v. Ortho-McNeil-Janssen Pharmaceutical*, 414 S.C. 33, 78, 777 S.E.2d 176, 199-200 (2015). Fixing the deadlines on the first instance of misconduct when there is repeated wrongdoing would allow "parties engaged in long-standing malfeasance [to] obtain immunity in perpetuity from suit even for recent and ongoing malfeasance." *Id.* (quoting *Aryeh v. Canon Bus. Solutions*, 292 P.3d 871, 880 (Cal. 2013)). Petitioners do not mention the *Janssen* decision in their briefs.

- iii. There remain unanswered questions with respect to the statute of repose but the Court need not consider those questions here.

The rule the Marshalls are proposing does not answer all conceivable questions about the statute of repose. It is possible to argue over the precise meaning of terms like "treatment," "omission," and "occurrence." Must "treatment" consist of a single act, or can a series of related acts constitute a single instance of treatment as Illinois has held? *Cunningham v. Huffman*, 609 N.E.2d 321, 324-326 (Ill. 1993). Do treatment, omission, and occurrence require an "act" like a procedure or consultation—something more than a patient's mere reliance on a past diagnosis—as Delaware has held? *Benge v. Davis*, 553 A.2d 1180, 1185 (Del. 1989). It is impossible to imagine the varying sets of facts and arguments that could test how the statute of repose applies to cases at the margins.

Fortunately this case does not fall anywhere close to the margins. This case does not present difficult questions and it does not warrant anything more than the narrow ruling the

Court of Appeals issued. Here, there is straightforward expert testimony that Petitioners repeatedly breached the standard of care. Mrs. Marshall's expert says it was negligent for Dr. Dodds to continue Mrs. Marshall's medicine after her protein level stayed the same and then increased instead of getting cut by 40%. (R.p.254). The salient question for the statute of repose is "when did that act of negligence occur?" and the answer is obvious—it occurred in February and September of 2005 when Dr. Dodds saw these test results after starting Mrs. Marshall on the protein-slashing medicine in September of 2004. (R.p.256). A different expert says Dr. Roane breached the standard of care by not giving Ms. Marshall a complete "workup" after Mrs. Marshall quit seeing Dr. Dodds. (R.pp.398-399). That act of negligence plainly occurred when Mrs. Marshall went back to Dr. Roane in September of 2005 and January of 2006 after Mrs. Marshall quit seeing Dr. Dodds. *Id.*; see also (R.pp.363-364). The Marshalls filed lawsuits in February and April of 2011, within six years of these acts of negligence. (R.pp.31, 38). That should be the end of the analysis.

B. Cases from other jurisdictions aptly explain why a ruling in the Marshalls' favor does no violence to South Carolina's rejection of the "continuous treatment rule."

Both of the circuit court's orders discuss a doctrine known as the "continuous treatment rule" or the "continuous tort rule." See (R.pp.8-9, 17-18). The Court declined to adopt this doctrine in *Harrison v. Bevilacqua* because tolling the limitations and repose deadlines would run afoul of the statute's language and purpose. 354 S.C. at 138, 580 S.E.2d at 113. The circuit court viewed *Harrison* as indicating the statute of repose is supposed to be applied "strictly." (R.p.18). Petitioners say the decision of the Court of Appeals is inconsistent with *Harrison*.

Other jurisdictions have recognized that the Marshalls' approach is different from the continuous treatment rule. The highest court in Maryland addressed this directly, explaining the continuous treatment rule was "lifeless in Maryland" and nothing prevented the plaintiffs from holding a physician accountable for acts of negligence occurring within the repose period. *Jones v. Speed*, 577 A.2d 64, 67-68 (Md. 1990). There, as here, the case involved alleged failure to diagnose cancer on multiple occasions. Texas has a similar decision. *King v. Sullivan*, 961 S.W.2d 287, 290-292 (Tex. Ct. App. 1997). There, as here, the plaintiff's expert identified "separate, date-certain breaches." *Id.* at 292.

Dr. Roane believes South Carolina has already rejected the Marshalls' rule, deeming the "continuous tort rule" to be different than the "continuous treatment rule." It is difficult to square Dr. Roane's argument with *Harrison* for two reasons. First, *Harrison* described the continuing tort rule as a rule that *no* cause of action for negligence accrues until the end of a course of treatment. 354 S.C. at 139, 580 S.E.2d at 114. Second, *Harrison* affirmed a verdict for the negligence occurring within the repose period, albeit a symbolic verdict of \$1. *Id.* at 140, 580 S.E.2d at 115. Dr. Roane must also deal with *Janssen* and offer some explanation why she should get to lump multiple acts of negligence together but her patients should not have the same opportunity. *Janssen* correctly explains a defendant's claim to repose is "vitiating" when a case presents a series of discrete wrongs. 414 S.C. at 78, 777 S.E.2d at 199-200.

Petitioners' true argument is that there are no discrete wrongs here; they think the Marshalls' have suffered only one cumulative wrong and may not dissect this wrong into parts that are not time-barred. This is the approach the state of Georgia follows. The

Georgia Supreme Court held, in a 4-3 decision, that the only “injury” in a repeat misdiagnosis case is the original misdiagnosis. *Kaminer v. Canas*, 653 S.E.2d 691, 695 (Ga. 2007). The court acknowledged repeated breaches of the standard of care “may well constitute new and separate instances of professional negligence,” *id.*, but despite this recognition, the majority held Georgia’s deadline statutes are not ultimately tied to the occurrence of a negligent act or omission but are tied to the date of the injury; in a misdiagnosis case, the date of the original misdiagnosis. See 653 S.E.2d at 695.

Petitioners make much of the similarity between Georgia’s statutory language and the language of South Carolina’s statute of repose. The Marshalls will gladly concede the point—the language is virtually identical. But the *Kaminer* decision makes it plain that Georgia’s ultimate analysis *is not* tied to the statute’s language and whether there are multiple occurrences of negligence. Georgia acknowledges there are multiple occurrences but is adamant that there is only one “injury.” See also *Howell v. Zottoli*, 691 S.E.2d 564, 566-67 (Ga. Ct. App. 2010).

The dissent in *Kaminer* explains why this view is wrongheaded: each time a medical condition is wrongly misdiagnosed, the patient—at a minimum—has to pay additional money for the wrong medical treatment, suffer additional stress and anxiety while the true disease goes unchecked or gets worse, and these are further invasions of the plaintiff’s rights tied directly to the additional breaches of the standard of care. *Id.* at 698-99. A member of the Georgia Court of Appeals has called that state’s body of precedent confusing and difficult to apply. 691 S.E.2d at 568. The Marshalls were unable to locate any instance where Georgia’s decisions have been favorably cited outside that jurisdiction.

South Carolina law has not typically tied a negligence claim to whether the plaintiff can prove a “new” injury. The law requires a defendant’s negligence cause “damages.” (Appellants’ Brief, pp.14-15) (citing *Grier v. AMISUB*, 397 S.C. 532, 537, 725 S.E.2d 693, 696 (2012)). The Marshalls’ rule gives maximum effect to the statute of repose’s legitimate application, is consistent with South Carolina’s precedent, and is supported by decisions in other jurisdictions. To the extent Georgia’s rule applies outside the scenario of a “cumulative wrong” when there is only a single injury, Georgia’s approach is mistaken and South Carolina should not follow suit.

C. Dr. Roane’s error preservation argument is wrong. The record plainly discloses the Marshalls repeatedly told the circuit court they were only suing for negligence that happened within the unexpired repose period.